



June 2024

Assessing the adequacy and impact of research and innovation policy towards a climate neutral economy

Working Paper

SPONSORED BY THE



Federal Ministry of Education and Research





Version: Final June 2024

Assessing the adequacy and impact of research and innovation policy towards a climate neutral economy

Working Paper

Sonja Peterson^{a*}, Finn Ole Semrau^a, Thomas Heimer^b, Marius Alt^b, Julian Schaper^b and Helen Garber^b

Kiel Institute for the World Economy
 ^b Technopolis Group

* Corresponding author, E-Mail: Sonja.peterson@ifw-kiel.de, Kiellinie 66, 24105 Kiel, Germany.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Marc Blauert, Dirk Dohse and Leonie P. Meissner for their support and valuable feedback.

Sponsored by

We acknowledge financial support by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research under the grant number [01LA2101A].



I

Table of Contents

1	Introduction					
2	The rationales behind R&I policy					
3	Linking R&I policy to climate change related impacts					
	3.1 From inputs to impacts - an evaluation and impact assessment framework	6				
	3.2 Classifying outcomes and impacts of R&I Policy towards climate neutrality	_10				
	3.3 Status quo of indictors for the relation between R&I measures and GHG emissions	_13				
	3.4 Limits of an impact assessment	_14				
4	Deriving ex-ante indicators for the qualitative assessment of the climate policy impact of R&I by funding institutions					
	4.1 Methodological approach	_16				
	4.2 Empirical implementation of the model	_18				
	4.2.1 What are the benefits and use of ex-ante indicators?	_18				
	4.2.2 What Is collected?	_18				
	4.3 Illustrative Results for an exemplary R&I Programme	_23				
5	Summary and Conclusions					
6	Bibliography					

Tables

Table 1 Main R&I contributions to climate neutrality	_12
Table 2 Proposal for an Indicator Typology for GHG-Emission Impact	_22

Figures

Figure 1 Different domains of market and system-related failures justifying green R&I support	3
Figure 2 Model to assess governmental R&I support towards climate neutrality	_10
Figure 3 Ex-ante indicator system	_17
Figure 4 Illustration to provide information on a potential impact chain concerning GHG-emission reduction potential	_23
Figure 5 Project Overview: Emission reduction potential relative to the degree of innovativeness by hydrogen projects	_24





Ш

Figure 6 Project Overview: Emission reduction potential relative to the degree of innovativeness by sectors ______24





1

1 Introduction

Climate change is one of the biggest global challenges that certainly calls for governmental action in many respects. In its roadmap for global climate neutrality by 2050, the International Energy Agency (IEA, 2021) emphasises the key role of technologies that are still in the development phase. These are expected to contribute more than 40% to the reduction of CO₂ emissions between 2020 and 2050. As key technologies, the IEA identifies further developments in batteries, electrolysers to produce green hydrogen and the direct extraction of CO₂ from the atmosphere as the most promising fields of innovation and sees measures to promote these and other environmental innovations at the heart of global energy and climate policy.

Other studies calculate the huge investments needed to reach climate and emission reduction targets. Boston Consulting Group (2021) estimates that in Germany alone cumulative 860 billion Euro need to be invested between 2021-2030 to reach the goal of climate neutrality by the year 2045. Krebs and Steitz (2021) estimate that the German public financial sector needs to invest 460 billion Euros between 2021-2030. The German Council of Economic experts calculates for the period till 2045 an investment need of up to 607 billion Euros (Sachverständigenrat, 2023). The EU plans to mobilise 1 trillion Euro from the EU budget and other public and private sources by the year 2030 earmarked for climate-relevant support. The USA Inflation Reduction Act includes 370 billion Euro in particular for a big investment and subsidise programme for the climate protection industry. Demary and Neligan (2018) conclude that worldwide an investment of up to 7 trillion USD annually is required for fulfilling the Paris climate target.

In the context of climate policy, economists strongly argue for (carbon) emission pricing to directly penalise the negative consequences that the emission of CO₂ and other greenhouse gases (GHG) imply through their contribution to global warming (see e.g. Carbon Pricing Leadership Coalition, 2019). There is ample evidence that higher energy prices or directly targeted carbon pricing induces emission or energy-saving innovations (see e.g. Popp, 2002; Teixidó, Verde and Nicolli, 2019; Ren *et al.*, 2022). Yet, there are also valid arguments that call for additional governmental support for Research and Innovation (R&I) activities (Cervantes *et al.*, 2023). Such arguments are diverse positive externalities and other market failures in the innovation process. The most commonly discussed domains are insufficient consideration of reduced environmental degradation, knowledge spill-overs, cost reductions through learning-by-doing or learning-by-using, network effects from the expansion of technology infrastructure from which all market participants can profit, path-dependencies, incomplete information, market entry barriers and incomplete capital markets (see Meißner, Peterson and Semrau (2023) for a review of the literature).

In this context, governments are, or should be, concerned with the adequacy and optimal design of their measures. Related to adequacy the question is what role public R&I support should play in the policy mix and more precisely, in which form, for which technologies and to what degree it is needed. There are certainly cases where other measures, like carbon prices inducing privately funded innovation, would be more successful than government-funded R&I. In this context, the next section summarises key rationales of governmental R&I policy and its role in the climate policy mix. Although, this is not the focus of the paper, it provides the background for assessing governmental R&I measures. One would for example like to know how a certain R&I activity contributes to emission reductions, what other major impacts a certain measure has, the drivers of this impact and how one can maximise it. While it is still relatively simple to assess impacts of a specific technology support on the product or service





level – be it lower emission intensities or lower production cost – assessing impacts on the societal level is very complex, and in many cases even not possible. A key source is the complexity of the interaction between R&I funding and other societal and economic processes. Moreover, as common for any innovation process, there is a high level of uncertainty of its outcome, considerable time lags, cumulative causation making attribution difficult and trade-offs between different impact dimensions.

Against this background, we shed light on the complex interactions and key components of an impact assessment and establish a methodological framework to describe and - as far as possible - assess the adequacy and impacts of R&I policy. Given the described complexities such an assessment is in many dimensions at most qualitative and a quantification is often not feasible. The described framework strongly builds on (Miedzinski *et al.*, 2013) and we use the German Federal Climate Change Act (Bundes-Klimaschutzgesetz - KSG¹) and the Climate Action Programme (Klimaschutzprogramm – KSP) to provide examples and sketch a specific application of the rather broad framework. With this Act, the German government has set binding climate protection targets for Germany. By 2030, greenhouse gas emissions (GHG emissions) are to be reduced by at least 65% compared to 1990 levels. At the same time, research and innovation measures play a decisive role in bringing Germany's transformation onto a target-compliant course.

The paper proceeds as follows. Section 2 addresses the question why, where and when governmental R&I policy is justified. Section 3 discusses the general approach to link governmental R&I to climate change related impacts. In Section 4, we provide a first applied approach on linking F&I indicators with GHG emission indicators to generate an insight into the climate effects generated by public R&I measures.

2 The rationales behind R&I policy

Research and Innovation (R&I) policy supports a very broad range of activities from funding blue-sky, basic or applied research not necessarily only on technologies but also governance, acceptance and more broadly social issues over providing direct and indirect support for technology diffusion or educational programmes to measures to support system changes in relevant areas such as individual mobility.

Within the German Climate Action Programme (Bundesregierung, 2019, 2023), e.g. the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research mostly funds applied research for specific technologies but also several network and consolidation projects, as well as research on social and governance issues to address climate change in its entire breadth. The programme lists 24 different areas and focuses particularly on the energy sector, mobility, and industry policy. It, e.g. supports different technologies along the hydrogen supply chain (solar cell-based electrolysis, transport of hydrogen, hydrogen-based methanol production), several battery related projects, research on synthetic fuels, research on preventing process-based emissions in industry and on carbon capture and storage (CCS).² Yet, the programme also supports

¹ The German KSG (Bundes-Klimaschutzgesetz, engl. Federal Climate Protection Act) was passed in 2019 and aims at ensuring the achievement of national and European climate protection targets. For the first time, this act legally enshrines sectoral targets to be met. The law mandates a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by at least 65% compared to 1990 levels by 2030 and by at least 88% by 2040. Additionally, it sets the goal of achieving net greenhouse gas neutrality by 2045.

² The government established the new German Climate Action Programme 2023 in October 2023. It includes about 130 measures including measures aiming at R&I activities (Expertentat für Klimafragen, 2023).





mobility related projects focusing on urban and spatial planning as well as education projects, related e.g. to vocational education, early childhood development and provides scholarships to young people engaged in climate protection.

In this paper, we focus on technology support, even though the approaches discussed in the next chapters can be transferred, at least partially, to assess other types of governmental R&I support as well. When assessing governmental R&I programs, it is important to clarify the rationales behind the support measures. For technology support the rationales are in particular

- the presence of market and system failures in the R&I process,
- higher political support for green R&I policies compared to other climate polities such as carbon pricing,
- industrial policy targets.

Rational (1): The presence of market and system failures in the R&I process

Related to the first rationale, there is broad agreement that diverse positive externalities and other market failures in the innovation process lead to private underinvestment in such activities compared to the social optimum (e.g. Grossman and Helpman, 1991; Jaffe, Newell and Stavins, 2005; Acemoglu et al., 2012; Aghion et al., 2016; Cervantes et al., 2023). Figure 1 illustrates four different domains of market and system-related failures justifying green R&I support.³

Figure 1 Different domains of market and system-related failures justifying green R&I support

Double externality	Dynamic increasing returns	Path dependency	Other market imperfections
 Knowledge creation Reduced environmental degradation 	 Learning by using Learning by doing Network externalities 	 Market size effect Price effect Network effect Costs of delay 	 Uncertainties in investment costs Financial constraints Market entry

The creation of environmental innovations (Els) creates two socially desirable outcomes which are not sufficiently considered in the innovation process of the private sector, known as the double externality problem. First, Els generate positive knowledge spill-overs since knowledge is non-rival and often non-excludable, the benefits extend beyond the innovating firm (Grossman and Helpman, 1991). Second, Els contribute to reduced environmental degradation, such as decarbonisation (Rennings, 2000; Jaffe, Newell and Stavins, 2005; Popp, 2006). This market failure, characterised by both knowledge and environmental externalities, justifies policy interventions to encourage green investments.

The second domain relates to dynamic increasing returns in the adoption of Els. Learning-byusing involves the dissemination of knowledge as adopters showcase a new technology, creating positive externalities by revealing information about its characteristics and success (Jaffe, Newell and Stavins, 2005). Learning-by-doing, on the other hand, focuses on supply-side

³ See Meißner, Peterson and Semrau (2023) Section 2 for detailed discussion of justifying factors for governmental green R&I support.



aspects, with production experience leading to cost reductions, e.g. already observable in the early stages in the take-off of solar photovoltaics (Nemet, 2006). Finally, network externalities amplify technology value with user numbers (Berndt, Pindyck and Azoulay, 2003; Jaffe, Newell and Stavins, 2003). Governments may justify over-proportional subsidies for costlier technologies, anticipating knowledge spill-overs through learning-by-using, long-term cost reductions through learning-by-doing or to avoid a path dependency induced by low numbers of users compared to environmentally less friendly but already established technologies (Aghion *et al.*, 2019).

Next, path dependencies in innovation are evident in both clean and dirty production, as demonstrated empirically by Aghion *et al.* (2019) in the automotive sector. Regions and firms specialised in dirty patenting exhibit lower future activities in green patenting, indicating a path dependency in both directions. Market size effects guide innovation toward sectors with larger input markets, while price effects direct innovation towards sectors with higher prices. Both effects favour established dirtier technologies. Aghion *et al.* (2019) discuss network effects as an additional source of path dependency. There is an incentive to deploy innovations that use existing infrastructure, e.g. patrol stations vs. charging stations for electric vehicles. In addition, innovations unfold higher payoffs with complementing technologies, e.g. renewable energies show a higher payoff complemented by storage capacities. Acemoglu *et al.* (2012) emphasise the need for governmental intervention to avoid technological lock-ins in dirty production, as such lock-ins could lead to environmental disasters. An optimal policy comprises a policy mix of market-based instruments, e.g. carbon tax, and governmental R&I support. Delaying the implementation of such a climate policy mix substantially reduces the cost efficiency of climate policy (Acemoglu *et al.*, 2016).

The last domain comprises other market imperfections. Uncertainties surrounding investment costs and the returns to innovation create a disparity between innovators, who possess a more comprehensive understanding of risks and opportunities in new green technologies, and investors, who face incomplete information. Investors, seeking compensation for uncertainty, demand a risk premium, leading to a reduction in socially desirable R&I activities (Jaffe, Newell and Stavins, 2005). Moreover, financial constraints significantly impede R&I investments, especially affecting young and small companies. The lack of access to external funds hampers innovation, with newer companies typically driving radical innovations while older ones focus on incremental changes. Venture capital serves as a crucial mechanism for facilitating risk-taking and unlocking the innovative capacity of these companies (Bond, Harhoff and Van Reenen, 2005; Cervantes et al., 2023). Finally, a lack of business dynamics can hinder innovation activities, e.g. missing market entry opportunities for new, innovative firms (Cervantes et al., 2023).

Recognising the existence of market imperfections hampering El activities justify that governments step-in to support the take-off of Els. Missing governmental support can result in less than socially desirable green R&I and system failures impeding creativity, effectiveness and efficiency of R&I systems (Miedzinski *et al.*, 2013). In line with this, there is a broad consensus in the literature that R&I support is part of an optimal climate policy mix. The relevance of policy mix goes back to the Tinbergen (1952) rule, which advocates for a specific policy instrument for each addressed market failure. In a stylised setting for electricity production e.g. Fischer & Newell (2008) show that the optimal governmental policy includes a carbon price, a subsidy for R&I into renewable energy to correct for knowledge spill-overs and a production subsidy for renewable to correct for learning-by-doing effects. Along the same lines, Acemoglu *et al.* (2012) emphasise that a mix of environmental regulation, such as carbon pricing and R&I support, can redirect technical change to clean technologies and overcome path dependencies. Yet, such findings say little about the level or specifics of needed R&I support.



Although market-based approaches should be in the forefront of a cost-efficient policy mix, governments might favour R&I support because of its popularity among voters as discussed next.

Rational (2): Higher political support for green R&I policies

The second rationale relates to the observation that climate policies providing incentives for private related R&I efforts - including especially carbon pricing - might be politically difficult to implement, while R&I support receives more acceptance (Jaffe, Newell and Stavins, 2005; Dechezleprêtre et al., 2022). Yet, there is ample evidence that stringent climate policy is the most important driver of private investment into relevant private R&I (Jaffe, Newell and Stavins, 2005) and thus governmental R&I policy alone will not ensure the necessary level of innovation and diffusion of it. In other words, there is the danger that for acceptance reasons, policy is relying too heavily on such R&I support, while from a societal standpoint, a policy mix with market-based regulations in its centre would have been more effective and efficient. Moreover, assessment of R&I policies is even more difficult since it is not clear if other possibilities for raising private R&I funds are feasible or not. An example where acceptance reasons play a key role is the recent US "Inflation Reduction Act" (IRA), through which the Biden Administration hopes to foster emission reductions in a setting where carbon pricing, still mentioned in the campaign for the presidency (Davenport and Glueck, 2019), is not politically feasible. The name of the policy package also indicates the target of reduced energy prices through R&I. This is most likely relevant for acceptance and political feasibility but also international competitiveness of US firms, pointing to rational (3).

Rational (3): Green industrial policy

More broadly the rational (3) of industrial policy relates to different aspects of fostering the competitiveness, development, and growth of domestic industries. While for some time scepticism about specific industrial policy dominated, it is now again highly on the political agenda. The recent wave of industrial policies is centralised around subsidy policies and is primarily driven by advanced economies. China, the European Union and the United States account for 48% of all industrial policy-related measures. Beyond strategic competitiveness as the dominant motive, other objectives like climate change, resilience and national security are rising (Evenett *et al.*, 2024).

In this paper, we focus on the assessment of R&I with respect to its contribution to climate neutrality, but there are also aspects that overlap with industrial policy targets. This is particularly the issue of carbon leakage: If domestic industries relocate abroad or if domestically produced products are substituted by foreign products with higher carbon content, emissions are partly shifted abroad and not avoided (Copeland and Taylor, 2005). Hence, the result of carbon leakage can be an offset of domestic emission savings and higher worldwide emissions (Aichele and Felbermayr, 2015). In addition, carbon leakage has negative economic consequences for the country undertaking stringent climate policy. A way to reduce or even avoid carbon leakage can be to reduce costs for domestic firms – e.g. lowering domestic input prices, pricing emissions in globally sourced inputs or supporting innovation activities – and thus remain more competitive on world markets. This would call for R&I efforts especially related to industries that face high international competition.

Given that rationale (1) leaves it mostly open what exactly should be supported and how much and given that rationales (2) and (3), though valid, only lead to second best policies or can be criticised for good reasons, it is advisable to not blindly call for R&I support wherever some technological developments play a role but to critically think about the overarching instrument mix in which R&I funding is only one option. Some conclusions from the literature can help in the discussion about when R&I policy should be undertaken and how it should be designed.



For technologies close to the market, deployment support can reduce production costs, e.g. supporting learning-by-doing by implementing feed-in-tariffs or auctions. However, a technology-push induced by public R&I support is crucial for clean technologies which are still in the early stages of development, as this will help to neutralise the base advantage of the older and dirtier installed technologies and helps the clean technologies to "move down the learning-curve". Analysing political support of clean technologies, Cervantes *et al.* (2023) reveal a strong emphasis on deployment policies rather than supporting immature technologies. They show that in the US, Japan and the EU public support for R&I measures related to renewable energies (solar and wind) where only a tiny fraction of support for the deployment of these technologies, e.g. in the EU 458 million USD on public R&I support vs. 78.4 billion USD on deployment in 2018. Comparable arguments also imply that it can make sense to support different technologies to different degrees, even though on the first sight, supporting, e.g. originally more expensive solar energy more than wind energy leads to a higher-cost solution at least in the short term.

Derived from this, scenarios about which technologies have to be used to reach net-zero targets and the development stage of these technologies can indicate where governmental support is most needed. As mentioned in the introduction, the IEA (2021) estimates that especially from 2030 technologies that are only in the development phase and where only demonstration projects and prototypes exist are needed to reach net-zero. It identifies further developed batteries, electrolysers to produce green hydrogen and the direct extraction of CO₂ from the atmosphere as most promising fields of innovation in this respect. The most recent IPCC (2022) report on climate mitigation compares the levels of mitigation costs across technologies which highlights where cost reductions are most relevant. These includes especially many technologies in the energy and industrial sectors (bioelectricity, geothermal energy, CCS, fuel switching in industry to natural gas, electricity, bioenergy or hydrogen, material and energy efficiency). Specific country-studies, such as the so-called "Big-5 Studies" on how Germany can reach its net-zero target for 2050 (see Kopernikus-Projekt Ariadne, 2021) can give further insights into which technologies are most relevant in this context.

It is also clear, that R&I policies interact with all types of other policy instruments. Most prominently, the direct emission effect of an R&I policy is zero if emissions are caped e.g. through a cap-and-trade system. Yet, in this case R&I support reduces the costs of meeting the given target and can make such a policy more acceptable (see Fischer, Hübler and Schenker, 2021; Dechezleprêtre *et al.*, 2022), politically enable stricter targets in the future and also reduce carbon leakage and thus indirectly lead to less global emissions.

3 Linking R&I policy to climate change related impacts

The aim of this section is to set-up an impact assessment (IA) framework that supports the assessment of specific R&I policies with respect to their impact on climate neutrality. The framework heavily draws on (Miedzinski *et al.*, 2013). While it contains some general elements that are both relevant for an ex-ante and an ex-post assessment, the framework is mainly targeted at the former. Put differently, the framework is designed to assess the potential impact of R&I measures on GHG-emission mitigation, mitigation costs and contribution to climate neutrality more generally before they are implemented.

3.1 From inputs to impacts - an evaluation and impact assessment framework

As discussed, a first question in any policy assessment should be, why this instrument is needed in the first place and whether there are, or would have been, better alternatives. Furthermore,



it should be assessed whether a specific instrument could be optimised and designed in an even better way. In the following, though, we focus on impacts of R&I policies independent of the question whether these policies are the optimal instrument and whether other instruments would have been better.

Public intervention in R&I then takes place in a broader setting including diverse macroeconomic, sectoral and climate policies but also market forces and further framework conditions that affect the impact of R&I interventions. A common assessment framework to analyse social consequences of a project (see e.g. Taylor and Bradbury-Jones, 2011; Belcher *et al.*, 2019), that is rather similar to the one used for policy assessment in Miedzinski et al. (2013), distinguishes between inputs, activities, outputs, outcomes and impacts that are influenced by these multiple determinants. Complexity increases with each step.

<u>Inputs</u> describe the resources needed to undertake R&I activities including personnel, overheads, infrastructure, machinery, etc. These can typically be monetarised and added up. For example, the research project on the synthetic fuel Namosyn within the German KSP 2030⁴ has a volume of 20 Mio. Euros (Dechema, 2023). Or the KlimPro project, which focus on process emissions and their elimination in basic industries, such as steel and iron production, the cement industry or the chemical industry, is supported with 30 Mio. Euro (FONA, 2023).

Inputs are used to undertake <u>activities</u> or actions conducted by the project which can be related to classical technological development but also for a broader set of projects like in the German KSP 2030 activities can include project design, literature review, fieldwork, planned communications and/or engagement with stakeholders, etc. (Belcher *et al.*, 2019). From a different point of view, activities and actions are necessary steps to reach the project goals (McLaughlin and Jordan, 1999).

<u>Outputs</u> are the direct results of R&I activities in the form of for instance patents, publications, knowledge about products and services or more broadly new concepts and processes. They are often described to manifest in the shorter term, but this does not need to be the case. Popp (2016), for example, shows for US governmental R&I support that "USD 1 million in additional government funding leads to one to two additional publications, but with lags as long as ten years between initial funding and publication". It then takes further time for these publications to be cited in patents. Thus, even outputs can occur only after a significant time lag. Generally, they are intended to lead to results and contribute to intended long-term impacts. Examples could be knowledge about the optimised process to avoid process emissions in the cement industry, the development of a new battery with a longer lifetime and better recycling options, new bio-based products or knowledge about the acceptability of new urban mobility concepts. Outputs are rather controllable since they depend mostly on internal capacity (competence of the research team, access to equipment and good management).

<u>Outcomes</u> are more broadly the result of policy intervention or in our case R&I support contributing to achieving their overall objectives. In line with Taylor & Bradbury-Jones (2011), outcomes describe why the outputs are important and their implications in our case for firms, individuals or society. According to Millar et al. (2001), output is what an activity, programme or policy produces and the outcomes are what it seeks to accomplish. Outcomes are more strongly influenced by external factors than outputs and are, thus, less controllable. Or as Belcher et al. (2019) formulate it: "(T)he project cannot control what happens, but it can exert influence in many different ways." Outcomes (as outputs) are typically classified also as short-

⁴ Differences among the KSP 2030 established in 2019 and KSP 2023 established in 2023 are not considered in this chapter. An insight on the differences is given by Expertenrat für Klimafragen (Expertenrat für Klimafragen, 2023).



term but can, as argued before, be rather long-term. For an innovative product, short-term outcomes could be the customer benefits and intermediate outcomes the result of the use and application of the short-term outcomes (McLaughlin and Jordan, 1999). More specifically, a laboratory prototype for an energy-saving technology could be the short-term outcome, while the intermediate outcome could be the scaling in production. The distinction between outputs and outcomes is not always clear. One could say that only the patent for the prototype would be the output and the prototype based on the patent itself already a short-term outcome, but one could also see the prototype as a direct output of R&I funding. Therefore, it makes sense to group both as in Miedzinski et al. (2013). In the context of the German KSP 2030, the medium-term outcome of supported activities could be that the chemical industry uses new processes with less process emissions, the use of new batteries reduces resource use through recycling, biobased products are gaining market share or new urban mobility concepts are implemented. Furthermore, what e.g. Millar et al. (2001) and McLaughlin & Jones (1999) term long-term outcomes are termed impacts in other approaches like in Miedzinski et al. (2013).

Impacts, finally, are typically defined as long-term changes a policy intervention contributes to or, in the case of new products and services, the following results from the application. Impacts often occur at the level of the economy or society in which policies are just one driving force and they are even less controllable as outcomes. In the framework of Miedzinski et al. (2013), there is a further step to relate socio-economic impacts to the targeted environmental pressures. In our case, this implies deriving how the impacts contribute to climate neutrality. In the example of the new energy-saving prototype, the impact (or long-term outcome) would be a cleaner environment (McLaughlin and Jordan, 1999) and in the case of many measures of the German KSP 2030, lower emissions, lower costs of reaching given emission targets and/or greater acceptance of climate policy. This shows, again, that the contribution to climate neutrality does not always need to be a certain emission reduction and there can be both socio-economic impacts and resulting environmental impacts. Beyond the contribution to climate neutrality, it still makes sense to also assess other environmental pressures to identify potential trade-offs and unintended side effects.

Inputs, activities and direct outputs are commonly closely monitored by funding agencies that require regular reporting and are, thus, also to some degree controllable. This is much less the case for outcomes and impacts. Generally, already outputs but even more so outcomes and impacts of R&I policies depend on many external factors that can support or hinder intended impacts and can also lead to unintended side-effects.⁵ They are mostly outside the scope of R&I support and thus not controllable and also uncertain. A framework like the PEST (political, economic, socio-cultural and technological) approach from business analysis to assess external factors as part of strategic management (Aguilar, 1967) can help for a structured assessment of such determinants.⁶

Relevant political factors include the legal system, diverse standards and norms, the roles for intellectual property rights, fiscal policies, but most of all, the existing climate policy framework that sets incentives for the diffusion of new technologies and practices. The climate policy framework determines whether such diffusion will mainly lead to cost savings at the national

⁵ The stated result is frequently initiated by rebound effects. Research in the automotive sector has reduced emission per HP in cars by 50% in the period 1990 – 2019. However, at the same period the average HP per car doubled.

⁶ Others, like Miedzinski et al (2013) add "environment" as a further component and talk of a "STEEP framework" (Social, Technological, Economic, Environmental, Political). Yet, their examples for environmental determinants like access to material or natural resources can also be subsumed under economic determinants.





level (if a cap-and-trade system is present) or can also lead to overall emission reductions. Related to this, there is ample literature on the interplay of R&I policy and other types of policies. Fischer et al.(2017) and Gerlagh et al. (2009) e.g. analyse this interplay theoretically and stress the role of carbon pricing. Gerlagh et al. (2009) finds that R&I support should focus on sectors with little carbon pricing. Popp (2019) summarise the empirical research examining links between environmental policy and environmentally friendly innovation. Examples are the regulations by the ReFuelEU Aviation law that generate a strong incentive for research in synthetic fuels for airplanes.

Economic factors such as demand for certain goods and services, competition framework, resource costs, access to capital, etc. also determine e.g. the diffusion of a new technology or product. Howell (2017) e.g. finds that support for start-ups is more effective for more financially constraint firms.

Social-cultural factors e.g. determine the impact of educational projects or the degree to change behaviour towards e.g. less carbon intensive mobility.

Technical and technological determinants include the quality of technical infrastructure. The literature also shows that the success of an R&I support depends on the stage of the supported technology. The IPCC (2022) discuss that issue in detail.

A so-called Impact Assessment (IA) approach puts all these components together. It starts from a certain R&I policy measure and attributes, in the first step, activities, outputs and outcomes, taking other policy areas and the determinants of the R&I system into account. The next step is to identify the type of impacts and contribution to the targeted variables – in our case climate neutrality – taking again relevant determinants into account. In some cases, it might also be possible to quantify impacts to some degrees but given the described complex interactions this is very difficult. This is intuitively clear for R&I measures such as educational programmes or mobility concepts, where it is not clear to which degree they are adopted. But also for some very relevant technologies like batteries or hydrogen the impacts are highly unclear, since the first technology is part of a net-zero electricity system, but does not save emissions directly and the latter can be used in several different sectors and applications each within a different setting and environment.

Figure 2 summarises this IA framework. The left part of this figure structures the evolution of the effects in levels, building upon each other and indicating possible diffusion pathways of R&I policy induced outputs. These diffusion pathways are often operationalised through linear models (also called 'logical models'), which focus on outcome-oriented impacts. They intend to build causal relationships between funding program (inputs), research activities (process), and impacts (outputs). Traditionally, these models focus on so called "paybacks", aiming to identify where the funding line materialised into measurable outcomes (Donovan and Hanney, 2011). In the context of our impact assessment, this framework can be adapted towards environmental impacts. Furthermore, in line with Miedzinski et al (2013) the relevant determinants of the activities, output, outcomes, and impacts need to be added to the linear model.







Figure 2 Model to assess governmental R&I support towards climate neutrality

3.2 Classifying outcomes and impacts of R&I Policy towards climate neutrality

To assess the impacts of R&I Policy towards climate neutrality, it is helpful to further classify outcomes and socio-economic impacts as well as contributions to climate neutrality.

To group outcomes we follow the Oslo Manual 2018 for recording innovations (OECD and Eurostat, 2018). In addition to product innovation, business process innovation, which includes process, marketing, and organisational innovation, is also relevant. We divide business process innovation into knowledge-based and behaviour-based innovations. This distinction is not necessarily trivial, outputs can sometimes be associated with different outcomes. Nevertheless, it is helpful to differentiate which modes of action are represented by an overall portfolio of R&I measures and to define their innovation and output characteristics are:

- Type 1: New or modified <u>knowledge (competencies)</u>, which can be either applied or theoretical, codified and transferable or tacit and have medium-term effects on the level of knowledge, the knowledge structure, and the knowledge management of the R&I sector.
- Type 2: <u>Behaviour, organisation, and intangible infrastructure.</u> These outputs have mediumterm effects on social, economic and political behaviour and on organisations, their structure and working methods as well as on intangible infrastructure (e.g. financial infrastructure, information, networking).
- Type 3: New or modified <u>products</u>, <u>technologies</u>, <u>or physical infrastructures</u> where outcomes can include testing new prototypes</u>, enhancing market readiness or diffusion. These outputs



have medium-term effects on products (e.g. the (further) development of a product), technologies (e.g. scaled market launch of new technologies) and physical infrastructure.

The projects within the KSP 2030 address typically type 1 outcomes plus either type 2 or type 3 outcomes but sometimes also a mixture of all three types.

Following Miedzinski et al. (2013) we then group socio-economic impacts into five categories. The first category "Information and learning system" is a rather vague concept of changes in the system in which the interplay of public and private actors generates new knowledge. The impact indicators are based on the following:

- Information and learning system: Interdisciplinary research programmes and educational initiatives that focus on understanding and raising awareness of climate change and its impact on emissions. Such programmes could include, for example, the analysis of emission trends, research into the impact of different emission sources and the development of emission reduction strategies. These educational and research endeavours will raise general awareness of the urgency of reducing emissions and create a sound knowledge of the links between human activity and climate change.
- Policy regulation, and governance system: R&I support can influence public strategies, • regulations and policies related to climate neutrality. This is especially likely for funding for socio-economic research. As part of the KSP, the ARIADNE project (https://ariadneprojekt.de/) for example directly addresses political frameworks and instruments. Modified or new policies will in turn influence the pathway to climate neutrality in manifold ways.
- <u>Social practice and consumption behaviour</u>: This relates to impacts on individual and social practice and consumption patterns in society (Miedzinski *et al.*, 2013). In our context, examples are that new products can change consumption patterns or new urban mobility concepts can change mobility practice.
- <u>Production system and business models:</u> Impacts in this category can be the diffusion of new low- or zero-carbon technologies, products and services and the degree to which they substitute existing services or product-services systems (e.g. in the mobility or heating sector).
- <u>Technical infrastructures and built environment.</u> This area is introduced since infrastructures and the built environment and the energy use and carbon footprints are very relevant for carbon neutrality, e.g. in the electricity, mobility, building and heating sector. Also related to e.g. negative emission technologies infrastructure is important.

The outcomes and socio-economic impacts then result in impacts on climate neutrality can be on very different levels and related to different types of contributions. The most natural contribution are emission reductions – be it the reduction of direct emissions or embodied emissions to account for full carbon footprints. Emissions can be affected at the product and service level, at the level of consumers, households, or single institutions, at the level of whole industries or sectors, at the level of a country, or even at the global level, which is the level that finally matters for climate change. Another second relevant contribution are reduced costs at the different levels (products, services, households and so on). Costs are driving the use of different technologies and in systems with fixed emissions (such as an emissions trading system), R&I will not affect emissions at the national or sectoral level but reduce the costs of reaching the target levels. Costs also relate to acceptance and burdens for households where lower costs of low-carbon products/ services, or the reduced carbon footprint of products/ services lowers the costs of carbon taxes. On the industry level costs determines competitiveness of lowcarbon products but also the danger of carbon leakage leading to less emissions savings on the global level.





Further contributions are less easy to define but relate more broadly to network and system effects. For example, the effects of both green hydrogen and batteries can only be assessed at the system level. This makes a detailed impact assessment in terms of emission and cost impacts very difficult (see section 3.4.) but certainly constitutes a contribution to climate neutrality.

Furthermore, it should be accounted for at which level impacts occur. Most of the impacts within the causal chain pictured in Figure 2 take place at the micro and meso-level, i.e. at the product and service level, at the consumer, household, and organisational level, or at the level of industries. Thus, the impact model takes account of changes that occur at a small scale technological, process or social practice level and transform into higher level impacts once their effects on the different sectors is accounted for.

Table 1 summarises the main contributions of R&I on climate neutrality, where we group the impacts following Miedzinski et al. (2013) into micro-, meso- and macro-level.

	Micro-Level		Meso-Level	Macro-Level	
	Products/ Services	Consumers/ HH/ Organisations	Industries/ sectors	Countries/ regions	Supernational/ Global
Direct / Embodied Emissions	Direct / Embodied GHG emissions per unit of good or service	Direct GHG emissions / GHG footprint per household	Direct GHG emissions / GHG footprint per unit of output and overall, by industry/ sector	National territorial GHG emissions / GHG footprints	Global Emissions
Cost-Reductions	Production cost per unit of output of cleaner technology	Cost per household, for specific services/ products	Competitiveness of industry	Reduced cost to achieve given emission reduction/ target Reduced carbon leakage	Reduced costs to reach given emission reductions
Network / System effects	Contributions to a net zero economy on different level, only indirectly reducing emissions or (system) costs, including both tangible and intangible contributions.				

Table 1 Main R&I contributions to climate neutrality

The mentioned PEST-framework can then help to structure also the determinants of contributions. Yet, these are highly case and technology specific. For instance, in the energy sector the evaluator should consider the CO₂ intensity of the electricity mix. Many low-emission technologies and processes that emerge from R&I policies rely to a certain degree on the input of electricity. However, if the grid's electricity is produced carbon intensively, the emission reduction potential of the new technologies and processes might be at stake. Also, the development of the energy infrastructure is decisive for the emission and costs impact of the outputs of R&I policies. In the absence of a sufficient energy infrastructure, the supply of the new technology, process, or product might be insufficient and will therefore not be established on the market. In the industry sector impacts of R&I policies might depend on carbon leakage. Industries with low fixed costs of production might shift their production to non-EU countries instead of conducting abatement measures like adopting low-carbon alternatives that might evolve from the R&I policies. Energy prices matter as well. With low energy prices, the industries are less prone to switch to technological alternatives emerging through R&I. Besides those sector specific determinants, many there are many cross-sectoral factors, such as again the EU ETS coverage and certificate price or the cross-price elasticity between fossil-based and





equivalent low-emission products that becomes relevant for the adoption when R&I policies reduces the prices of low-emission technologies and products.

The categories and lists of determinants and influencing factors can help to establish a customised impact assessment for a given R&I policy or funding program which provides certain inputs to undertake activities.

Since this is of special importance, we next want to provide a short review of existing work related to the impact of R&I measures on greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. And while an indicator system to categorise the climate policy impact of future R&I measures does not exist to date, this work contributes to develop our indicator system in Chapter 4.

3.3 Status quo of indictors for the relation between R&I measures and GHG emissions

Theoretical and empirical considerations on the connection between R&I and GHG emission indicators are made from different perspectives. Fundamental work on the relationship is based on the model of an environmental Kuznets curve. The original Kuznets curve states that the inequality of income distribution first increases with rising per capita income before it eventually decreases again (Kuznets, 1955). Decades later it was found that also pollution increases with rising per capita income and declines above a certain level of prosperity (Grossman and Krueger, 1991). This led to the hypothesis that the increase in research-induced innovations, at least in OECD countries, leads to declining GHG emissions from a certain level of per capita income growth (Leal and Marques, 2022). Relevant indicators used here were the changes in gross domestic product and the pollution levels measured in pollution values of the pollution object (Thompson, 2014).

While the indicators based on Kuznets' hypothesis are certainly empirically relevant for locally anchored environmental damage, such as water pollution, they have long been highly controversial for non-local environmental damage such as GHG emissions. Even if numerous macroeconomic ex-post studies support the hypothesis of a positive influence of growing income on lower GHG emissions (Awaworyi Churchill *et al.*, 2019), the results of these ex-post studies depend to a large extent on the assumptions made in the modelling. More critical studies on Kuznets' impact model tend to assume an N-shaped relationship between per capita income and GHG emissions, which calculates a renewed increase in GHG emissions for rising per capita incomes above a certain income level (Levinson, 2002).

Ex-post studies analysing the regional correlations between R&I and GHG emission reductions come to similar critical conclusions. These studies show that the relationship between R&I and GHG emissions is not clear. For some R&I activities, decreasing GHG emissions are identified, for others increasing emissions occur (Li and Wang, 2017).

The ex-ante relationship between economic policy measures and GHG emission reductions has been the subject of intense debate in climate policy discussions for several years (Schlomann et al., 2022). In these approaches, indicator systems are developed that analyse the impact of economic policy measures that are close to their application, as is done, for example, in the projection reports of climate reporting (Harthan and Förster, 2023). The indicators used here aim to determine the impact of economic policy measures on GHG emissions by modelling changes in primary or final energy consumption or in costs. The modelling is often carried out with the aid of **life cycle analysis (LCA) models**, which attempt to determine the impact of R&I on the technology paths of the applications under consideration (NPM, 2021). The LCA models are used to identify technological and innovative development trends within the considered pathways that lead to GHG emission reductions. Restrictive assumptions about the effects of the R&I measures are made in all of these models so that the future event space becomes manageable. It should be emphasised that LCA





models have proven their worth for tangible applications initiated by research and innovation policy. For example, in the projection reports on climate reporting, which are essentially based on "total cost of ownership" models (Moawad et al., 2023), analyses based on LCA models are carried out in the analysis of GHG emission reduction pathways in order to determine parameters for technical and innovative developments and their future influences on GHG emission trends. Yet, the LCA methodology sometimes is also more critically discussed (IPCC, 2022).

Especially in the context of intangible innovations and in systemic analyses that include scale, spill-over or rebound effects, the possibilities of LCA models are limited. These studies do not provide a more intensive analysis of the relationship between R&I measures and GHG emission changes (Rüter, 2023).

Such approaches are more likely to be found in innovation policy studies that deal with exante evaluations of technology and innovation policy programmes. Initial work in this direction has been undertaken in Austria, for example, for tangible applications (Gallauner, Ibesich and Kampel, 2014). Working Group 3 of the IPCC has also addressed this issue (IPCC, 2022). IPCC has started to create an initial systematisation of the relationship between R&I systems and GHG emission trends. This is based on an indicator model with the following indicators: Knowledge Development, Knowledge Diffusion, Guidance of Search, Resource mobilisation, Entrepreneurial Activities, Market Formation, Creation of Legitimacy.⁷ However, the IPCC does not carry out any ex-ante modelling of the impact of R&I measures, particularly intangible ones, on GHG emissions. Rather, the IPCC also refers to the methodological challenges of an ex-ante assessment of the relationship between R&I measures and GHG emissions.

3.4 Limits of an impact assessment

Before we develop an exemplary more detailed impact assessment in the context of the German KSP 2030 we want to briefly summarize the limitations of any impact assessment which we have touched upon already at different points. Identified limitations of the R&I impact on GHG emission mitigation and more generally climate neutrality results mainly from following effects:

- 1. **Indirect impacts** of R&I activities that make a linear allocation and thus quantification of GHG emission mitigation impossible.
- 2. Technological interrelatedness and rebound effects.
- 3. Timeline spreads between R&I activities and resulting impacts.

R&I processes frequently show nonlinear or even probabilistic as well as unintended attitudes as result of **indirect impacts**. That generates a lack in identifying links as presumed in the linear assessment model. When looking at Figure 2, under that assumption an assessment gets more difficult when moving from one component of the linear assessment model to the next. Inputs and activities are usually well-known and e.g. part of project applications and project reports. Already outputs but even more so outcomes and impacts of R&I policies depend on diverse and very individual external factors (the determinants in Figure 2) that influence intended impacts in manifold ways and can also lead to the mentioned unintended side-effects. They are mostly outside the scope of R&I support and thus not controllable. Furthermore, they are also often highly uncertain. Any assessment of these determinants and their consequences needs to be tailored for the R&I measure in question and will still remain limited. Accordingly,

⁷, Table 16.7.





also the potential to quantify GHG emission potentials of R&I projects and measures is limited. The challenge of validating the impact of measures on emissions is most obvious in the analysis of the KSP 2023 impact assessment. As discussed by the Expertenrat für Klimafragen (2023) a clear qualitative or quantitative impact on GHG-emissions is not feasible for a majority of the measures listed in the programme. In particular, R&I measures that aim at intangible activities belong to that group of measures.

Beside indirect impacts technological interrelatedness as well as rebound effects limit the validity of quantified GHG emission effects but also more general impacts on climate neutrality. Mitigation contributions are less easy to define but relate more broadly to network and system effects. In section 3.1, we have already briefly mentioned that hydrogen is part of a net-zero economy but can be used in several different sectors and applications where the impact of hydrogen on a net-zero economy is interrelated with other technologies, so that the impact of e.g., improved solar cell-based electrolysis depends on where the produced green hydrogen is finally used and requires a system-level analysis. Similarly, the development of batteries is decisive for an energy system based on renewables, and the emission and cost effects of batteries can again only be assessed at the system level. Even for a project like green steel production where it is possible to calculate the emission reductions per tonne of steel compared to an old technology (following e.g. the guidelines of the EU for projects funded under the Innovation Fund (European Commission, 2021). it is not clear how much emissions are ultimately saved, since the amount of produced steel is not fixed and depends on the competitiveness of the green steel production in the longer run and available substitutes. An "optimal" net zero scenario might for example include a stronger use of wood in the building sector, lighter cars and overall, less steel production than today, so that emission savings would be overestimated when simply calculating the difference in emissions per ton of steel and multiplying it by today's steel production.

System effects also become relevant for intangible outcomes like better mobility concepts or increased knowledge about climate change in the society. As already indicated with these examples, the policy framework will strongly influence how product/ service level impacts translate into household, industry, sectoral, national, and global impacts. Furthermore, other determinants are also gaining importance when moving to the next level. In our example of green steel, emissions in steel industry might still go up because output increases (called rebound effect), or emissions at the EU level stay unchanged because steel industry is part of EU emission trading system with fixed cap. As another example, more efficient batteries provide downward pressure on electricity price, but overall electricity prices go up because of more demand from other sectors (e.g., e-mobility or heating). Beside those effects based on technological interrelatedness rebound effects limit the mitigation effects. As an example, the German automobile industry managed to cut emission per HP by 50% from 1990 to 2019 but at the same time the average HP per car more than doubled. Accordingly rebound effects lead to higher GHG emission than in the pre-innovation stage.

Frequently the **timeline** for R&I projects regarding GHG emission mitigation is not consistent. The research on the fusion reactor ITER illustrates the problem. Even so establishing nuclear fusion on earth will strongly enhance the production of renewable electrical current, the expected time of the introduction of nuclear fusion as a commodity has changed regularly and it is still not clear when and if at all this technology will be applicable on larger scale. Accordingly, the point in time as well as the GHG emission mitigation provided is not quantifiable. The impact of R&I supports thus very much depends on the progress of research in nuclear fusion. However, since the GHG emission mitigation concept is based on a budget approach where the realised emissions at a certain point of time (n) in the future is less of interest than cumulated GHG emissions from today to point (n) in the future.



Given the discussed complexities an impact assessment of R& I fundings on GHG emission mitigation but also more general impacts on climate neutrality is often quantitatively not feasible.

However, in opposite to quantitative assessments a qualitative validation of impacts is often still realisable. Qualitative assessments allow qualified validations by experts who are able to e.g., qualify impacts of R&I activities on GHG emission mitigation. Those validations might be able to develop a range of impacts of R&I projects on GHG mitigation. In opposite to a quantitative impact assessment the results do not show the amount of reduced emissions but a more vague assessment of mitigation ranges and potential. Because of the difficulties with quantitative indicators, we propose a system of qualitative indicators that establish a qualitative assessment of R&I support. This approach is illustrated in the following chapter.

4 Deriving ex-ante indicators for the qualitative assessment of the climate policy impact of R&I by funding institutions

Based on the impact assessment model developed in the previous chapter, we now present a concept that allows a qualitative ex-ante indicator model of the climate policy impact of future R&I measures. With the help of such an indicator system, it will be possible to anticipate the climate policy relevance of political R&I measures.

4.1 Methodological approach

The literature review in Section 3.3 has made clear that at present, a qualitative or even quantitative ex-ante evaluation of the climate impact of specific R&I measures not to speak of an overall portfolio of such measures targeted at funding institutions such as the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research does not exist. On the one hand, as discussed above, developments in the field of R&I are uncertain due to their novelty value and therefore climate-relevant effects are difficult to predict. On the other hand, the effects of successful R&I measures are usually too complex in their interactive and indirect impact chains to reliably predict their influence on GHG development. A qualitative or quantitative ex-ante evaluation of the climate policy effects of R&I measures has therefore not yet been developed in a scientifically sound or practically usable way.

In order to solve this problem of not being able to assess the impact of R&I measures on GHG emissions directly, we propose a bottom-up approach based on data from the initial phase of R&I measures. Although this does not allow the ex-ante evaluation of an R&I measure itself to be realised prior to its establishment, at least the data set can be collected at the start of the first project proposals, which enables a statement to be made on the GHG emission effects. It should be emphasised here that – as Section 3.4 has discussed - a quantitative assessment of the effect of an R&I measure on GHG emissions is not possible.

The proposed ex-ante indicator system is therefore aimed at a **robust but purely qualitative orientation** of the impact of the R&I measure. As part of a bottom-up approach, the first step is to collect information from the funded projects at the application stage. In the second step, this information can be aggregated across all funding projects of an R&I measure. In a third step, the qualitative GHG emission effects of R&I measures can be aggregated across individual areas so that, for example, the effect of the R&I measures located in one area on the GHG emission values can be qualitatively estimated. As discussed, a quantitative link between outcomes of R&I measures and GHG-emission reduction is not feasible. However,





based on the data provided by the bottom-up selection can be qualified into categories of impact on GHG emission.

Figure 3 illustrates how the collected data can be used. The innovation and GHG emissionsaving potentials are broken down, presented, and aggregated according to projects, programmes, and the overall portfolio. Considering three different impact levels allows to analyse the potential of the projects, programmes and the overall portfolio of a classic evaluation approach, which runs through the input-output-outcome-impact stage sequence in Figure 2 and, due to the assignability, sectors (which are in our examples below the sectors of the German Klimaschutzgesetz – KSG). This enables, for example, an assessment of the emission and innovation potential of the programmes for an individual sector or for a specific impact category.



Figure 3 Ex-ante indicator system

This structured and comprehensive assessment enables a systematic and explicitly categorised understanding of the potential effects of climate-relevant R&I measures on GHG emission reductions and potentially also other impacts related to net-zero. This understanding, in turn, can have a positive impact on the decision-making ability and adaptive flexibility of a resort and its project sponsors. In the long term, it may thus be possible to align the resort's R&I policy more effectively not only with R&I-specific challenges but also with climate policy challenges by using more climate-sensitive measures.



4.2 Empirical implementation of the model

For the empirical application of these indicators, which are based on a bottom-up approach, funding agencies can ask applicants for funding to provide condensed information on targeted questions as part of e.g., a short digital questionnaire. The collected information can then be flexibly aggregated to show, for example, the innovation and GHG emission reduction potential of R&I measures overall and at individual impact levels. Our approach aims to provide graphs, that are easily interpretable, while these are to be created automatically by a tool which uses the data gathered by the applicants' responses. Thus, no major effort is needed from the provider of the R&I programmes. In the following we continue to use examples from the German Climate Action Programme (2030).

4.2.1 What are the benefits and use of ex-ante indicators?

The advantage of an indicator system that establishes the link between R&I indicators and GHG emission indicators is available at both the political and the governance levels. At the political level, it helps a ministry to estimate the impact of funded projects on GHG emissions - both for individual projects and aggregated at the level of individual measures, groups of measures and an entire ministry. Overall, the indicator system helps to increase climate policy awareness in a ministry, the orientation of funding policy towards GHG emission reduction potentials and the analysis of the climate policy orientation of individual funding areas.

At the governance level, such an indicator system helps with fine-tuning both within a funding measure as well as across funding measures to carry out climate policy monitoring in the accompanying analysis of the impact of funding measures. This is particularly important for funding measures that focus directly on achieving climate policy goals.

Finally, the indicator system helps the applicants for funding to reflect on the impact of their activities on GHG emission targets and, if necessary, to focus on a more climate-sensitive task.

4.2.2 What Is collected?

The indicator system aims at indicators from both the R&I-system and the GHG-emission section. The indicators thereby cover the innovation chain while also providing an insight into the potential GHG emission reduction potential. Accordingly, the system starts with a specific input information that specifies the following:

Under which R&I programme is the project being applied for?

The information ensures that all future projects in a programme can be collected and aggregated.

Indicator categories

In our categorisation of impacts we follow the framework in Section 3.1.

Output

Definition: Outputs are the direct, measurable results of project activities. Several outputs can be assigned to a project. These are collected to record the specific results of a project in a differentiated manner so that more precise statements can be made about their impact. **Example:** Development of a constantly updated, interactive map showing the value chains of green hydrogen and the stock of all German Power-to-X plants.

Characterisation of the variable

As the outputs can have very different characteristics, it does not seem useful to categorise them here. Instead, a free text field is provided to briefly describe the expected output. This





information can therefore not be included in aggregated form in the creation of the graphs, as shown in **Fehler! Verweisquelle konnte nicht gefunden werden.** but provides an insight into which specific outputs can be expected at the individual project level.

Significance of the determined value

No value is determined here and therefore the output can only be assessed qualitatively.

Outcomes of the R&I policy

Definition: Outcomes refer to the medium-term effects triggered by the outputs of the project. These outcomes relate to three dimensions. These are recorded to understand the general

mode of action of the project, i.e., the leverage of the R&I measure. For example, is the project

primarily knowledge-based (e.g., education programme) or does it focus on a technology (e.g.

research into new batteries)? As described in Section 3.1. we differentiate between three types.

• **Knowledge (competencies)**: The outputs of the programme have medium-term effects on the level of knowledge, the knowledge structure, and the knowledge management of the R&I sector.

Example: Development of an updated, interactive map showing the value chains of green hydrogen and the inventory of all German Power-to-X plants has an impact on the knowledge structure and thus on the way this knowledge is handled.

• **Behaviour, organisation, and intangible infrastructure**: The outputs of the programme have medium-term effects on social, economic, and political behaviour and on organisations, their structure and working methods as well as on intangible infrastructure (e.g., financial infrastructure, information, networking).

Example: The development and implementation of a new concept for energy management in companies. This could include a system that monitors and optimises energy consumption and thereby reduces emissions.

• **Product, technology & physical infrastructure**: The outputs of the programme have mediumterm effects on products (e.g., the (further) development of a product), technologies (e.g., scaled market launch of new technologies) and physical infrastructure.

Example: The development of a new generation of solar cells that are more efficient, costeffective, and environmentally friendly than current models.

Characterisation of the variable

Applicants can select among the three categories described above if the outcome is expected for the respective project. It is possible to select more than one category. This allows aggregating the outcomes at the programme level/technology area or regarding the overall portfolio (cf. Figure 3).

Significance of the determined value

As with the outcomes, no quantifiable value is determined at this stage.

Socio-economic impacts of R&I policy

Definition: Impact refers to the long-term changes or final effects that are partly caused by the outcomes and can also go beyond the original scope of the programme (e.g., positive external effects, economies of scope). These are classified as belonging to one of the five





categories described in Section 3.2. to analyse which aspect of the project contributes to which of its potential outcomes.

- Information and learning system: Interdisciplinary research programmes and educational initiatives that focus on understanding and raising awareness of climate change and its impact on emissions. Such programmes could include, for example, the analysis of emission trends, research into the impact of different emission sources and the development of emission reduction strategies. These educational and research endeavours will raise general awareness of the urgency of reducing emissions and create a sound knowledge of the links between human activity and climate change.
- **Policy regulation, and governance system:** Legislation to reduce CO₂ emissions in industry and transport, such as emissions trading systems or stricter emission limits for motor vehicles. These political measures steer innovation and research in the direction of low-emission technologies and drives.
- Social practices and consumption behaviour: R&I-driven initiatives to promote public transport and reduce individual car use, leading to a reduction in (urban) emissions. R&Ibased findings on how people can be encouraged to adopt more sustainable behaviour can also contribute to optimised awareness raising for sustainable consumption and also to a reduction in the individual CO₂ footprint.
- **Production system and business models**: Development and use of low-emission production processes, such as the use of renewable energies in production or the implementation of circular economy models that increase resource efficiency and reduce emissions or initiate business start-ups.
- **Technical Infrastructure and built environment**: Research and development in the green building industry, including energy-efficient building technologies and environmentally friendly building materials. Such innovations can lead to a significant reduction of emissions in the construction sector by minimising the energy consumption of buildings and promoting sustainable construction practices.

Characterisation of the variable: As with the outcomes, it is also possible to select several categories if impacts are expected in more than one category. This information can again be used to aggregate at the programme level/technology area or overall portfolio (cf. Figure 3).

Significance of the determined value: As with the outcomes, no quantifiable value is determined here either.

Target sectors: Which sectors of the funding program, in our example, the KSG does the project target? Energy, industry, buildings, transport, AFOLU (agriculture, forestry and other land use) and waste management. This serves to aggregate the projects at the sector level and ultimately allows to create the outputs, that is to aggregate potential impacts of various projects on certain sectors. It is also possible to select several sectors if a new technology promises impacts in more than just one sector.

Validation of the R&I and emission indicators

Degree of Innovation

The effect of an R&I measure on GHG emissions or costs savings largely depend on its degree of innovation. For example, a product that is widely applicable and already demonstrably functional under real conditions can develop its emission- or cost-reducing effect more easily in the medium term than a product that only works under laboratory conditions. The degree of





innovation of the R&I measure is therefore offset against the potential emission effect to obtain a more realistic estimate of the actual effect.

- **Innovation leap:** 1 = minor portfolio optimisation, 2 = major portfolio optimisation, 3 = substantial product development, 4 = new development.
- **Applicability**: 1 = niche, 2 = small application in some sectors, 3 = broad application in some sectors, 4 = broad application in (almost) all sectors.
- **Application status** (Technology Readiness Level, TRL): 1 = Proof of the functionality of a technology (TRL = 1-3), 2 = Test setup in the laboratory or in the application environment (TRL = 4-5), 3 = Prototype in use (TRL = 6-7), 4 = Qualified system with proof (TRL = 8-9).
- Impact on framework conditions and non-technical (intangible) infrastructure: 1 = low, which is defined as hardly any impact on a specific product, process or business model innovation, 2 = moderate, which is defined as an impact on generic attributes of the innovation process as f.i. clusters, 3 = high, which is defined as a strong impact on the innovation process itself as establishment of specific actions like green finance schemes, 4 = very high which is defined as a fundamental impact on the generation of an innovation as f.i. financing patent enrolments.

Contribution to reducing emissions

The indicator "GHG-Emission reduction potential" analyses the impact of the measure/project on GHG mitigation. As discussed above (Chapter 3.3) there is no simple link between the socioeconomic impact of a R&I-project and its impact on emission mitigation. In addition, the time perspective of the impact is of importance. It makes a difference if the emission indicator targets a period up to 2030 or up to 2100. For our example of the Climate Action Programme 2030 of the German Federal Government, GHG-emission reduction potentials in the short term are differently handled than those to be expected in the long term. Accordingly, short-term GHG-emission reduction potentials have to be validated higher in the indicator model than long-term potentials. By validating the time perspective, the indicator helps to qualify the impact on the budget-based climate track agreed on in the Paris Agreement.

The indicators reflect two distinct effects of R&I measures on GHG emissions. On the one hand, R&I measures are expected to have **direct GHG emission reduction potentials**. By this, we mean measures that are aimed at targeted tangible technological processes, such as the optimisation of production of batteries or fuel cells. The stronger the objective of the measure/project aims at shaping the GHG emission reduction potential the stronger the expected impact value is.

On the other hand, **indirect GHG emission reduction potentials** must be recorded by the indicators. This includes funding measures that aim, for example, at improved R&I infrastructure (e.g., establishment of clusters, financial instruments), the formation of an overarching competence structure, or cost optimisation of products or processes. The more indirect GHG emission reduction actions are targeted by the measure the higher the indicator is valued.

We therefore propose to cluster the GHG-emission impact based on the following concept shown in Table 2.





	Direct Emission Reduction Potential		Indirect Emission Reduction Potential	Time Perspective	
Definition	Project/programme targets aim at systematic emission reduction	Scope ⁸ of expected GHG emission reduction potential	 Project/programme targets on emission reduction by: a. Improved infrastructure (Financing, cluster etc.) b. Generic competence building c. Cost optimisation in production or processes 	Time perspective validates the time span till the emission reduction might be established	
Value 1	No GHG emission reduction objective	Hardly any	No focus on any of the 3 indirect GHG emission reduction objectives	More than 15 years after measure/ project started	
Value 2	GHG emission reduction objective as a sub target	Some	Focus on 1 out of the 3 objectives	About 15 years after measure/project started	
Value 3	Strong focus on GHG emission reduction	Strong	Focus on 2 out of the 3 objectives	About 10 years after measure/project started	
Value 4	GHG emission reduction as the major objective	Very much	Focus on all 3 objectives	About 5 years after measure/project started	

Table 2 Proposal for an Indicator Typology for GHG-Emission Impact

Furthermore, it is helpful if applicants provide a brief potential impact chain outlining how their project's individual outputs may contribute to reducing GHG emissions. Figure 4 shows a prototypical pathway, applicants would have to fill out. This serves the dual purpose of prompting applicants to explicitly consider the climate impact of their project and ensuring the credibility of their expectations.

⁸ The definitions used here are: (1) hardly any: The impact on GHG emission reduction is neglectable; (2) Some: The impact on GHG emission reduction is very limited to a single product or process; (3) Strong: The impact on GHG emission reduction is covering a group of products or a sector; (4) Very much: The impact on GHG emission reduction ranges across the whole economy.





Figure 4 Illustration to provide information on a potential impact chain concerning GHG-emission reduction potential



Source: IfW/Technopolis

4.3 Illustrative Results for an exemplary R&I Programme

In order to be able to interpret the collected data at a glance, the above mentioned fourlevel scale can be used to indicate the degree of innovation and potential GHG impact of the funded R&I projects, in our case under the German KSG. In that regard, our indicator-system can contribute to assessing implicitly the potentials of current research on future emissions and the achievements of sectoral climate targets. A value of 1 represents a very low emission reduction and innovation potential and a value of 4 a very high emission reduction and innovation potential.

Figures 5 and 6 illustrate the results for our collected data related to a number of selected hydrogen projects funded by the German Federal Government. The data is systematically collected through a comprehensive analysis of the German Federal Government's website which provides an overview of all projects (Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung, 2024). The validation of the indicators is conducted independently based on the impressions obtained from this review. In Figure 5, the estimated qualitative potential for GHG emission reductions for individual projects is depicted in relation to the overall degree of innovation. This allows for a quick assessment of the qualitative strengths of emission reduction potentials and the average degree of innovation of the projects. The degree of innovation is calculated based on the mean of the indicators: innovation leap, applicability, application status, and intangible infrastructure. While each output is rated according to the scale explained above (1-4), the figure shows the mean of all individual outputs in each project. This means that the values shown can deviate from the scale used and are decimal numbers between 1 and 4. Additionally, the size of the circles represents the funding amount allocated to each project.





Projects with greater funding should ideally be associated with a larger effect on emission reduction than projects with lower funding.



Figure 5 Project Overview: Emission reduction potential relative to the degree of innovativeness by hydrogen projects

Source: Own illustration based on self-validated data of selected current hydrogen projects.



Figure 6 Project Overview: Emission reduction potential relative to the degree of innovativeness by sectors

Source: Own illustration based on self-validated data of selected current hydrogen projects.

Unlike in the computation of the overall degree of innovation, where all innovation indicators get the same weight, we assign weights to the individual indicators when calculating the overall emission reduction potential to reflect their relevance. Thus, we use double weighting for the direct emission reduction potential as well as for the time horizon and assign the weight of 1.5 to the indirect emission reduction potential. A final algorithm on how the indicators can be weighted will be set after the expert workshop. The system itself allows flexibility in the grading of the various impacts on the final results.

Figure 6 presents the same concept but depicts the effects not at the project level, but at the sector level, to which the outputs of all projects contribute. This illustrates in which sectors





significant emission reductions can be expected. Overall, although this is a quantitative representation, the values for the individual sectors and projects can only be interpreted qualitatively and with reference to other sectors/projects.

5 Summary and Conclusions

In this paper we have discussed the role of governmental R&I support towards a climate neutral economy. As argued in section 2, governmental R&I support is generally part of an optimal policy mix and there are good arguments for governments to support R&I measures related to technologies and innovations needed for a climate neutral economy. Yet, we have also stressed, that R&I support is not always the best approach. Given that governments have decided to fund specific R&I measures these should be assessed ex-ante regarding their potential impact. Section 3 has developed a general framework for such an impact assessment and discussed its potential but also limitations. In particular, we have stressed that an ex-ante quantification of impacts is generally not possible for a whole portfolio of R&I measures. This is why we in section 4 propose an indicator system for a qualitative impact assessment focussing on the innovation and greenhouse gas mitigation potential of R&I measures. We believe that such an approach can generally help funding institutions to make better and more transparent decisions. Yet, we are aware that it needs to be adjusted to the specific needs and institutional settings, which requires a validation process resulting in tailored data gathering e.g., through questionnaires and tailored automated evaluation tools. In this sense, this paper provides the theoretical background and general set-up of a qualitative exante impact assessment of R&I measures but only makes a first step towards implementation in funding institutions.

6 Bibliography

Acemoglu, D. et al. (2012) 'The Environment and Directed Technical Change', The American Economic Review, 102(1), pp. 131–166. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.102.1.131.

Acemoglu, D. et al. (2016) 'Transition to Clean Technology', Journal of Political Economy, 124(1), pp. 52–104. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1086/684511.

Aghion, P. et al. (2016) 'Carbon Taxes, Path Dependency, and Directed Technical Change: Evidence from the Auto Industry', *Journal of Political Economy*, 124(1), pp. 1–51. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1086/684581.

Aghion, P. et al. (2019) 'Path dependence, innovation and the economics of climate change', Handbook on Green Growth, pp. 67–83. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4337/9781788110686.00011.

Aguilar, F.J. (1967) 'Review of Scanning the Business Environment.', The Journal of Business, 40(4), pp. 537–539.

Aichele, R. and Felbermayr, G. (2015) 'Kyoto and Carbon Leakage: An Empirical Analysis of the Carbon Content of Bilateral Trade', *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 97(1), pp. 104–115. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1162/REST_a_00438.

Awaworyi Churchill, S. et al. (2019) 'R&D intensity and carbon emissions in the G7: 1870–2014', Energy Economics, 80(C), pp. 30–37.





Belcher, B.M. et al. (2019) 'Linking transdisciplinary research characteristics and quality to effectiveness: A comparative analysis of five research-for-development projects', *Environmental Science & Policy*, 101, pp. 192–203.

Berndt, E.R., Pindyck, R.S. and Azoulay, P. (2003) 'Consumption Externalities and Diffusion in Pharmaceutical Markets: Antiulcer Drugs', *The Journal of Industrial Economics*, 51(2), pp. 243–270. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6451.00200.

Bond, S., Harhoff, D. and Van Reenen, J. (2005) 'Investment, R&D and Financial Constraints in Britain and Germany', Annales d'Économie et de Statistique, (79/80), pp. 433–460. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2307/20777584.

Boston Consulting Group (2021) Klimapfade 2.0 – Ein Wirtschaftsprogramm für Klima und Zukunft. Boston Consulting Group. Available at: https://issuu.com/bdiberlin/docs/211021_bdi_klimapfade_2.0_-_gesamtstudie_-_vorabve (Accessed: 2 February 2024).

Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (2024) Wasserstoff-Leitprojekte. Available at: https://www.wasserstoff-leitprojekte.de/grundlagenforschung (Accessed: 3 June 2024).

Bundesregierung (2019) 'Klimaschutzprogramm 2030 der Bundesregierung zur Umsetzung des Klimaschutzplans 2050'. Available at:

https://www.bmel.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/_Landwirtschaft/Klimaschutz/Klimaschutzp rogramm2030.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=3 (Accessed: 2 February 2024).

Bundesregierung (2023) Klimaschutzprogramm 2023 der Bundesregierung. Available at: https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Downloads/klimaschutz/20231004klimaschutzprogramm-der-bundesregierung.html (Accessed: 2 February 2024).

Carbon Pricing Leadership Coalition (2019) Report of the High-Level Commission on Carbon Pricing and Competitiveness. World Bank (Carbon Pricing Leadership Coalition Reports). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1596/32419.

Cervantes, M. et al. (2023) 'Driving low-carbon innovations for climate neutrality'. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/8e6ae16b-en.

Copeland, B.R. and Taylor, M.S. (2005) 'Free trade and global warming: a trade theory view of the Kyoto protocol', *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, 49(2), pp. 205–234. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2004.04.006.

Davenport, C. and Glueck, K. (2019) Climate Change Takes Center Stage as Biden and Warren Release Plans - The New York Times. Available at: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/06/04/us/politics/joe-biden-climate-plan.html?smid=nytcoreios-share (Accessed: 24 October 2023).

Dechema (2023) *Klimaneutral mit Verbrennungsmotor*. Available at: http://namosyn.de/#:~:text=Koordiniert%20wird%20das%20Projekt%20mit,und%20Forschung% 20(BMBF)%20gef%C3%B6rdert.

Dechezleprêtre, A. et al. (2022) Fighting climate change: International attitudes toward climate policies. Paris: OECD. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/3406f29a-en.

Demary, M. and Neligan, A. (2018) Are green bonds a viable way to finance environmental goals? An analysis of chances and risks of green bonds. IW-Report. Available at: https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/180209 (Accessed: 24 October 2023).





Donovan, C. and Hanney, S. (2011) 'The "Payback Framework" explained', *Research Evaluation*, 20(3), pp. 181–183. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3152/095820211X13118583635756.

European Commission (2021) Innovation Fund (InnovFund) - Annex C: Methodology for GHG Emission Avoidance Calculation.

Evenett, S. et al. (2024) 'The Return of Industrial Policy in Data', *IMF Working Paper*, 2024/001. Available at: https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WP/Issues/2023/12/23/The-Return-of-Industrial-Policy-in-Data-542828 (Accessed: 29 January 2024).

Expertenrat für Klimafragen (2023) Stellungnahme zum Entwurf des Klimaschutzprogramms 2023 Gemäß § 12 Abs. 3 Nr. 3 Bundes-Klimaschutzgesetz. Available at: https://192.102.162.113/ (Accessed: 2 February 2024).

Fischer, C., Hübler, M. and Schenker, O. (2021) 'More birds than stones – A framework for second-best energy and climate policy adjustments', *Journal of Public Economics*, 203, p. 104515. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2021.104515.

Fischer, C. and Newell, R.G. (2008) 'Environmental and technology policies for climate mitigation', *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, 55(2), pp. 142–162. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2007.11.001.

Fischer, C., Preonas, L. and Newell, R.G. (2017) 'Environmental and Technology Policy Options in the Electricity Sector: Are We Deploying Too Many?', *Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists*, 4(4), pp. 959–984. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1086/692507.

FONA (2023) Forschung für Nachhaltigkeit, Forschung für Nachhaltigkeit | FONA. Available at: https://www.fona.de/de/massnahmen/foerdermassnahmen/klimpro-industrie.php (Accessed: 2 February 2024).

Gallauner, T., Ibesich, N. and Kampel, E. (2014) Methodische Grundlagen für ein indikatorbasiertes ex-ante Impact Assesment von energie- und mobilitätsrelevanten FTI-Förderprogrammen des BMVIT. Austrian Institute of Technology.

Gerlagh, R., Kverndokk, S. and Rosendahl, K.E. (2009) 'Optimal Timing of Climate Change Policy: Interaction Between Carbon Taxes and Innovation Externalities', *Environmental and Resource Economics*, 43(3), pp. 369–390. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-009-9271-y.

Grossman, G. and Krueger, A. (1991) *Environmental Impacts of a North American Free Trade Agreement*. Working Paper. Princeton, Woodrow Wilson School - Public and International Affairs. Available at: https://econpapers.repec.org/paper/fthpriwpu/158.htm (Accessed: 30 January 2024).

Grossman, G.M. and Helpman, E. (1991) 'Trade, knowledge spillovers, and growth', European Economic Review, 35(2), pp. 517–526. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2921(91)90153-A.

Harthan, R.O. and Förster, H. et al (2023) *Projektionsbericht 2023 für Deutschland*. Umweltbundesamt.

Howell, S.T. (2017) 'Financing Innovation: Evidence from R&D Grants', American Economic Review, 107(4), pp. 1136–1164. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.20150808.





International Energy Agency (2021) Net Zero by 2050 - A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector. Paris: IEA. Available at: https://www.iea.org/reports/net-zero-by-2050.

IPCC (ed.) (2022) 'Innovation, Technology Development and Transfer', in *Climate Change* 2022 - *Mitigation of Climate Change*. 1st edn. Cambridge University Press, pp. 1641–1726. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.018.

Jaffe, A.B., Newell, R.G. and Stavins, R.N. (2003) 'Chapter 11 - Technological change and the Environment', in K.-G. Mäler and J.R. Vincent (eds) Handbook of Environmental Economics. Elsevier (Environmental Degradation and Institutional Responses), pp. 461–516. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1574-0099(03)01016-7.

Jaffe, A.B., Newell, R.G. and Stavins, R.N. (2005) 'A tale of two market failures: Technology and environmental policy', *Ecological Economics*, 54(2), pp. 164–174. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2004.12.027.

Kopernikus-Projekt Ariadne (2021) Deutschland auf dem Weg zur Klimaneutralität 2045 -Szenarien und Pfade im Modellvergleich. Potsdam: Potsdam-Institut für Klimafolgenforschung (PIK). Available at: https://doi.org/10.48485/pik.2021.006 (Accessed: 2 February 2024).

Krebs, T. and Steitz, J. (2021) 'Öffentliche Finanzbedarfe für Klimainvestitionen im Zeitraum 2021-2030', Forum New Economy Working Papers, 3. Available at: https://www.agoraenergiewende.de/publikationen/oeffentliche-finanzbedarfe-fuer-klimainvestitionen-imzeitraum-2021-2030 (Accessed: 2 February 2024).

Kuznets, S. (1955) 'Economic Growth and Income Inequality', *The American Economic Review*, 45(1), pp. 1–28. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/1811581.

Lancker, K. and Quaas, M.F. (2019) 'Increasing marginal costs and the efficiency of differentiated feed-in tariffs', *Energy Economics*, 83, pp. 104–118. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2019.06.017.

Leal, P.H. and Marques, A.C. (2022) 'The evolution of the environmental Kuznets curve hypothesis assessment: A literature review under a critical analysis perspective', *Heliyon*, 8(11), p. e11521. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e11521.

Levinson, A. (2002) 'The Ups and Downs of the Environmental Kuznets Curve', Recent Advances in Environmental Economics [Preprint].

Li, M. and Wang, Q. (2017) 'Will technology advances alleviate climate change? Dual effects of technology change on aggregate carbon dioxide emissions', *Energy for Sustainable Development*, 41, pp. 61–68. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esd.2017.08.004.

McLaughlin, J.A. and Jordan, G.B. (1999) 'Logic models: a tool for telling your programs performance story', *Evaluation and program planning*, 22(1), pp. 65–72.

Meißner, L., Peterson, S. and Semrau, F.O. (2023) It's not a sprint, it's a marathon: Reviewing governmental R&D support for environmental innovation. Working Paper 2254. Kiel Working Paper. Available at: https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/275673 (Accessed: 25 January 2024).

Miedzinski, M. et al. (2013) 'A short guide to assessing environmental impacts of research and innovation policy'.

Millar, A., Simeone, R.S. and Carnevale, J.T. (2001) 'Logic models: a systems tool for performance management', *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 24(1), pp. 73–81. Available





at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7189(00)00048-3.

Moawad, K.A. et al. (2023) Total Cost of Ownership as a Sustainability Indicator to Evaluate Environmental and Economic Performance of Sustainable Lightweight Vehicles. preprint. In Review. Available at: https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-2665027/v1.

Nemet, G.F. (2006) 'Beyond the learning curve: factors influencing cost reductions in photovoltaics', *Energy Policy*, 34(17), pp. 3218–3232. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2005.06.020.

NPM (2021) Wege für mehr Klimaschutz im Verkehr. Available at: https://www.plattformzukunft-mobilitaet.de/2download/wege-fuer-mehr-klimaschutz-im-verkehr/ (Accessed: 30 January 2024).

OECD and Eurostat (2018) Oslo Manual 2018: Guidelines for Collecting, Reporting and Using Data on Innovation, 4th Edition. OECD (The Measurement of Scientific, Technological and Innovation Activities). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264304604-en.

Popp, D. (2002) 'Induced Innovation and Energy Prices', *The American Economic Review*, 92(1), pp. 160–180. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1257/000282802760015658.

Popp, D. (2006) 'R&D Subsidies and Climate Policy: Is There a "Free Lunch"?', Climatic Change, 77(3), pp. 311–341. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-006-9056-z.

Popp, D. (2016) 'Economic analysis of scientific publications and implications for energy research and development', *Nature Energy*, 1(4), pp. 1–8.

Popp, D. (2019) 'Environmental Policy and Innovation: A Decade of Research'. National Bureau of Economic Research (Working Paper Series). Available at: https://doi.org/10.3386/w25631.

Ren, S. et al. (2022) 'Emission trading, induced innovation and firm performance', Energy Economics, 112, p. 106157.

Rennings, K. (2000) 'Redefining innovation — eco-innovation research and the contribution from ecological economics', *Ecological Economics*, 32(2), pp. 319–332. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-8009(99)00112-3.

Rüter, S. (2023) Abschätzung von Substitutionspotentialen der Holznutzung und ihre Bedeutung im Kontext der Treibhausgas-Berichterstattung. Working Paper 214. Thünen Working Paper. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3220/WP1685603200000.

Sachverständigenrat (2023) Jahresgutachten - Wachstumsschwäche überwinden - In die Zukunft investieren. Wiesbaden: Sachverständigenrat zur Begutachtung der gesamtwirtschaftlichen Entwicklung. Available at: https://www.sachverstaendigenrat-wirtschaft.de/publikationen/jahresgutachten.html (Accessed: 2 February 2024).

Schlomann, B. et al. (2022) 'Methodikpapier zur ex-ante Abschätzung der Energie- und THG-Minderungswirkung von energie- und klimaschutzpolitischen Maßnahmen'. Available at: https://publica.fraunhofer.de/handle/publica/441412 (Accessed: 30 January 2024).

Taylor, J. and Bradbury-Jones, C. (2011) 'International principles of social impact assessment: lessons for research?', *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 16(2), pp. 133–145. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987110393424.

Teixidó, J., Verde, S.F. and Nicolli, F. (2019) 'The impact of the EU Emissions Trading System on





low-carbon technological change: The empirical evidence', *Ecological Economics*, 164, p. 106347. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2019.06.002.

Thompson, A. (2014) 'Environmental Kuznets Curve for Water Pollution: The Case of Border Countries', *Modern Economy*, 5, pp. 66–69. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4236/me.2014.51008.

Tinbergen, J. (1952) On the Theory of Economic Policy. Amsterdam: Northern-Holland Publishing Company. Available at: https://repub.eur.nl/pub/15884/ (Accessed: 13 March 2023).

Webster, M. et al. (2017) 'Should We Give Up after Solyndra? Optimal Technology R&D Portfolios under Uncertainty', *Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists*, 4(S1), pp. S123–S151. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1086/691995.



www.technopolis-group.com



SPONSORED BY THE



滃